IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 26 1998 1

CASE NO. 93,329

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

J. REX FARRIOR, JR.,

Petitioner,

VS.

MARY LEE FARRIOR,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Certified Conflict Review from the Second District Court of Appeal

JOHN BERANEK AUSLEY & MCMULLEN 227 South Calhoun Street P.O. Box 391 (32302) Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 224-9115

ROBERT F. KOHLMAN KOHLMAN & MACK, P.A. Suite 1020 Ingraham Building 25 S.E. 2d Avenue Miami, FL 33131 (305) 372-5900 BRUCE S. ROGOW BEVERLY A. POHL BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre, Suite 1930 500 East Broward Boulevard Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394 (954) 767-8909

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dissolution of marriage case comes to the Court on a certified conflict. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.; Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Fla.R.App.P. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed a portion of a trial court final judgment which had found that stock inherited by Mary Lee Farrior had become a marital asset because it had been intermingled with marital assets. Recognizing that its reversal of the trial court posed a conflict with Adams v. Adams, 604 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), rev. denied, 614 So. 2d 502 (1993), the Second District certified the conflict for resolution by this Court. Farrior v. Farrior, ___ So. 2d ___ (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (" To the extent our decision conflicts with Adams, we certify the conflict."). Copies of the District Court of Appeal opinion below and the trial court's Final Judgment and are attached as Appendices A and B. The Adams opinion is Appendix C.

A. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINAL JUDGMENT

After a four-week trial, with a 3,000 page transcript and over 300 exhibits, Circuit Judge Debra K. Behnke entered a detailed Final Judgment which concluded:

[T]he court finds that all of the parties' assets, whether titled jointly or individually, are

marital assets subject to equitable distribution. Similarly, all of the parties' liabilities are marital liabilities. The Court rejects the Wife's contention that the stock inherited by her during the marriage, and titled in her name alone, should be awarded to her as nonmarital property.

R-3103, Final Judgment ¶ r, App. B, p. 6. The trial judge found:

In view of the parties' actions throughout their thirty six year marriage, the Court finds that the wife intended for the individuallytitled stock to be treated by both parties as a marital asset.

R-3102, Final Judgment ¶ o; App. B, p. 5.

The wife's brief in the District Court of Appeal acknowledged that the trial court's "holding is, in large measure, based upon facts which are undisputed." Appellant's Amended Initial Brief, p. 23, No. 96-1493, District Court of Appeal, Second District. The trial court's conclusion was based on its findings of fact that:

The Wife's individually-titled stock was often relied upon by the parties as collateral for numerous marital loans. Specifically, 220,372 shares of the existing 514,648 shares of Coca Cola Company stock were either pledged as collateral for marital debts, or were obtained through the stock splits of shares previously pledged in this manner.

* * *

The individually-titled stock was used by the parties to support a standard of living for the parties and their children that could not have been otherwise obtained by reliance on the parties' combined income alone.

* * *

It is undisputed that throughout the parties' thirty six year marriage the Husband exercised complete control and management over all the parties' property including the stock titled solely in the Wife's name. The Husband controlled, managed, sold, traded and voted the Wife's individually-titled stock. The Wife regularly executed blank stock powers to allow Husband to exercise this control over this stock. The Wife also deferred to his judgment on any financial decisions related to this stock as she did for virtually all of the parties financial decisions. In essence, the Husband had equal access to the Wife's individually-titled stock. Husband could draw on these assets as a whole for personal and family purposes, and in fact did so often throughout the marriage.

R-3100-3102, Final Judgment, ¶'s k, l, m, App. B, pp. 3-5.

Based upon these facts, the trial court concluded that "all of the parties' assets, including the Wife's individually-titled stock, have lost any separate identity through intermingling." Final Judgment ¶ k; App. B, p. 4.

B. THE TRIAL EVIDENCE

Mary Lee Farrior and Rex Farrior were married in Atlanta, Georgia in 1958. T-1093. They resided in Tampa, Florida where Rex Farrior was a partner in a prominent local law firm. He was 31 years old; Mary Lee Farrior was 21. T-1093, 1775-76, 2012.

Mary Lee Farrior was the beneficiary of a Trust established by her grandfather, Charles Talbot Nunnally. T-1101. She received income distribution from the Trust until 1968, when the Trust Company of Georgia distributed Trust assets to her which included stock shares of Coca Cola, Coca Cola International and the Trust Company of Georgia. The approximate value of those shares, which were titled in her name, was \$3,100,000. T-2090, 2093; R-3601-3616, 4044-4172. The stocks became the foundation of an expensive lifestyle which the family lived over the next 26 years. T-1824-25, 2219.

From the inception of their marriage, Mrs. Farrior's primary interest was the children, not the family's finances:

- Q. Now, as I understand it, Mrs. Farrior, during your marriage, Mr. Farrior took care of the finances of the family?
- A. Yes.

* * *

- Q. And up until you filed for divorce finances didn't mean a lot to you?
- A. No.

* * *

A. The children is what I was really looking forward to, not dealing with finances.

T-1136-37.

The Farriors have four sons. T-1103. Their well being was paramount in family decisions, which included substantial property purchases of a 2,200-acre ranch in Ocala and golf course properties in North Carolina, in which Mrs. Farrior concurred: "[B]ecause of the children, I knew that the children would enjoy it too. My children are always in every decision." T-1145.

The 2,200-acre ranch, which was purchased in 1968, was obtained *via* a bridge loan secured by the assignment of the entire corpus of Mrs. Farrior's share of the Nunnally Trust as collateral for the loan. T-2097, R-5538 (Exh. 242 – collateral note). The Farriors transformed that undeveloped land into a working cattle ranch with barns, a manager's house, a 6,000 square foot main house, and miles and miles of fences and gates, and planted over a half million pines, oaks and cypress trees on the property. T-1854-1864. The ranch was a central focus of Farrior family life:

A [REX FARRIOR:] We fished and we hunt. We've got — everything that — that a boy wants, we've tried to have up there.

* * *

- Q. Did [Mrs. Farrior] hunt up there?
- A. Occasionally. She went with us most every time, but she was driving the truck and occasionally she would get down with the boys and me. Not all the time.

* * *

A. And to hear your son decline a request to go to a rock concert because he wanted to go to the woods with his family is a very satisfying thing.

T-1860-62.

Mrs. Farrior was satisfied with the family roles she and her husband assumed. She chose where the family would live, decided on the raising and discipline of the children, and was the arbiter of domestic family life. T-1785-86. Her goal was "to have six children and to have a happy traditional marriage." T-1237. Their marital understanding placed control of all the family finances, including the stock, with Mr. Farrior. T-1785. The trial court found that it was "undisputed that during the course of their marriage, the Husband handled the parties' finances, with the full blessing of the Wife, while the Wife generally handled the domestic

duties." T-3009.

* * *

Handling the finances meant the care, custody and control of the stock. T-1824-25, 1834-35. Mr. Farrior was a highly successful lawyer whose law practice and other income contributed, over the course of the 36-year marriage, nearly \$5 million to the marital estate. R 5782-83. But in order to fund their level of family life, including a 7,000 square foot golf course home in Tampa (T-1851), an English Tudor mountain house in Cashiers, North Carolina (T-1839-47), an "elegant southern estate" on Culbreath Avenue in Tampa (T-1810), the Ocala ranch (T-1854), jewelry, investment diamonds, ranch cattle, ranch vehicles, a \$1,500,000 pledge to the University of Florida, a North Carolina hospital pledge (Final Judgment, App. B, p. 17), and a standard of living described as "extremely lavish" (R-3095), the stock – primarily Coca Cola – was necessary either as collateral for loans or to be sold to generate income. T-1824-25, 2219. Mr. Farrior explained:

[I]ndeed when we needed money, we made a conscious decision, and we wanted to live a good lifestyle, and we would sell assets to do it with, and we — I tried — rather than selling Coke. I felt it would be wiser or better to borrow against it - - and hold the stock so that as the stock went up you got the benefit down the road for five, ten, twenty years, whenever it was; to pay the interest each month and that

was very, very burdensome when we were owing half a million dollars

* * *

[W]e retained the ownership of the stock, and the bank lent us a given amount which we then started paying back; and after you paid back the loans, you got the stock back and it was usually worth a lot more when you got it back than when you tendered it.

T-1824-25.

Sales of the Coca Cola stock were used to satisfy the family's obligations.

- Q. Mr. Farrior, would you tell us the regular practice of the sale of Coca Cola?
- A. When a need arose that we couldn't or shouldn't meet from some other source, then I would make the judgment whether we should sell, how much, and at what price; and I would call the broker.

T-1834.

A. So, once a sale was announced, they'd send me a confirmation. I'd receive it that day. I'd go to the safe deposit box to pull out a share certificate, combine it with the stock power which was blank, and I would then fill in the blank on the stock power for that particular certificate, give it to the broker.

- Q. You said the stock power was blank?
- A. Yes. All the stock powers that she signed were in blank, just batches of them, so we could fill in whatever we wanted to whenever we needed to.

T-1835, 1801. That practice continued for 26 years, "from 1968 until October 1, of [19]94." T-1836. These "irrevocable stock powers" (R-5500), were kept in Mr. Farrior's office. T-1836. See also exhibits at R- 4536-47 ("blank Irrevocable Stock or Bond Power"); 4686-94 (same); 5612-19 (same); 4693-97 ("Assignment Separate from Certificate") (Brief, App. D); 5189-5201 ("Stock Powers blank"); 5286-92 (same), and App. D "copy of Assignment Separate from Certificate."

The stock itself was in a joint safety deposit box:

- A. [REX FARRIOR:] It was kept in the Marine Bank first because it was a note using it as collateral [for the ranch purchase]. Then in July of '68 it was given to me, and I opened a joint safe deposit box, and that's where it was kept, and as we changed banks, or banks moved, it was always a joint safe deposit box with whatever bank we were banking with at the time.
- Q. When you say "joint," she had the right to go into the bank as well as you did?
- A. Yes, and she had a key.

T-1796. Occasionally, some or all of the stock was kept in Mr. Farrior's office. Id.

A single Farrior bank account was used from the early 1970's to pay all the Farrior bills. T-1802. The account received all the parties' deposits, including income from the sale of the Coca Cola stock, dividends from the stock, and Mr. Farrior's law firm income; from the account Mr. Farrior paid the mortgages, car payments, medical bills, dental bills, and educational expenses. T-1802-1804. The couple's joint federal income tax obligations, which included taxes on the Coca Cola stock, sales and dividends, were also paid from that account (T-2315), as were their state intangible taxes, which included the value of the Coca Cola stock. T-1802-04. Their Federal Gift Tax Returns, which gifted Coca Cola stock, were similarly joint submissions. "I consent to have the gifts made by me and my spouse to third parties ... considered as made one-half by each of us." R-5496-99, Exh. 224 and 225 ("U.S. Quarterly Gift Tax Return"); 5691-94, Exh. 271 ("composite of U.S. Quarterly Gift Tax Returns"). Gifts of the Coca Cola stock were used by the Farriors to fund trusts for their four sons. T-1829-31.

The stock remained titled in Mary Lee Farrior's name in deference to her mother. T-1795. But there was no dispute, as the trial court found, that "the Husband could draw on those assets, as a whole, for personal and family purposes. . . ." Final Judgment, App. B, ¶ k, p. 4. The "individually titled stock . . . lost any separate identity through intermingling." Id. Mrs. Farrior's sister, who was probably "the

closest person in the world to Mary Lee" (T-1515-16), said she knew that all the couple's money went into "one pot." T-1522 (Deposition read into evidence). The sister's former husband agreed:

- Q. How did she [Mary Lee Farrior] refer to the Coke stock?
- A.. It was always <u>our</u> stock.
- Q. Did Mrs. Farrior ever say anything to your knowledge about the fact that their assets were joint assets?
- A. I heard her say a couple of times, "Everything we have goes into the goes in one pot."

T-1535-1536 (emphasis supplied).

Although Mrs. Farrior denied that she intended to make a gift of the Coca Cola stock (T-1107), the trial court entered findings of fact and a Final Judgment which determined that the Coca Cola stock had become "completely intermingled with all of the parties' other assets" (Final Judgment, App. B, ¶n, p. 5) and that "the Wife intended for the individually titled stock to be treated by both parties as a marital asset." Id. at ¶o. The Final Judgment itemized and separately calculated the value of each asset and each liability in the marital estate. App. B, pp. 13-17. The total marital estate – \$47,700,938 – was distributed on an equal basis: each spouse receiving \$23,850,469. Mary Lee Farrior appealed that equitable

distribution judgment.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DECISION

The District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's equitable distribution but remanded to the trial court for a determination of the value of Mr. Farrior's stock management work:

The trial court found that the Wife's stock, although it appreciated passively to a great extent, was also enhanced by the Husband's efforts. To the extent the trial court can find that this stock was enhanced through the efforts of the Husband, the enhancement would become marital property and thus subject to division.

<u>Farrior v. Farrior</u>, App. A, p. 3. The court rejected equitable distribution of the stock because the stock was in the wife's name:

In this case, the assets were stock certificates that were titled in the Wife's name alone. The stock certificates always maintained a separate identity and never became untraceable.

* * *

Additionally the Husband's access to the stock was not equal to the access enjoyed by the Wife...[T]he stock remained titled in the Wife's name alone and was never placed in an

account to which the Husband had equal access. . . . Because the evidence does not support a finding that the Husband had equal access . . . we conclude the stock in the Wife's name did not become a marital asset by intermingling.

App. A at 2.1

The court declined to consider the fact that the Coca Cola stock was, from the time it was received, pledged as collateral for loans for family property, business and general living purposes: "there is no equitable basis for a rule that punishes a spouse who use nonmarital property to finance the acquisition of marital property by then converting the nonmarital collateral to marital property." <u>Id.</u> at 3. Then, recognizing that its decision conflicted with <u>Adams v. Adams</u>, 604 So. 2d. 494 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the court "certif[ied] the conflict." <u>Id</u>.

The District Court of Appeal did not address the undisputed evidence of blank stock powers, assignments separate from certificate, joint safety deposit box and *carte blanche* authority to sell the Coca Cola stock, which was the basis of the trial court's finding of fact that Mr. Farrior did have equal access to the stock. As we discuss below, had he indeed sold all the stock, the proceeds would have been intermingled in the family account and "title" rendered irrelevant.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Are stocks which were inherited by one spouse as non-marital property converted to marital property subject to equitable distribution where, over 26 years, the stock was pledged as collateral for numerous marital loans, sold in part to fund marital purchases including, *inter alia*, property and homes, reported as a joint asset on gift tax returns, and where throughout the 26 years the other (non-inheriting spouse) was given unrestricted access to the stocks with full authority to sell them?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal decision below reversed a final judgment of a trial court in which the trial court, after a four-week trial, concluded that a wife's inherited stock had become a marital asset by intermingling. The trial court found that the wife intended for the husband to exercise complete control over the stock and that she intended that it be treated by both parties as a marital asset: "In sum, the conduct of the parties throughout the [36-year] marriage shows that the wife's individually titled stock has become completely intermingled with all of the parties' other assets." App. B, p. 5 ¶ n.

The District Court of Appeal rejected that finding. Since it was supported by undisputed evidence, that was error. <u>Bimonte v. Martin-Bimonte</u>, 679 So.2d 18, 19-20 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

One basis for the trial court's intermingling finding was the use of the stock for security for loans to fund marital expenses. The Second District reversed the trial court and refused to adhere to <u>Adams v. Adams</u>, 604 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u>, 614 So. 2d 502 (1993), which held that such a use converts the individually titled asset into a marital asset. The Second District certified to this Court its conflict with <u>Adams</u>. The decision in <u>Adams</u> and in the trial court in this

case should be approved. The use of the stock throughout the marriage as collateral for loans funding family obligations constitutes intermingling.

The decision below found that the husband did not have "equal access" to the stock because the stock remained in the wife's name. That appellate finding was contrary to the uncontroverted trial evidence that the wife had signed in advance blank pads of stock powers and assignments allowing the husband complete custody and control of the stock so that it could be used for marital purposes. The appellate failure to follow trial court findings supported by competent and substantial evidence is, alone, reason for reversal. But the irony of the decision below is that fact that the husband's access and control preserved the stock. Had he sold it to fund the family expenses, the cash proceeds would have been part of the marital estate. The fact that he preserved the asset should not result in the inequity of excluding the stock from the marital estate.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION BASED ON THE CERTIFIED CONFLICT WITH *ADAMS V. ADAMS*, 604 SO.2D 494 (FLA. 3D DCA 1992)

Adams v. Adams, 604 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), rev. denied, 614 So. 2d 502 (1993), held that an account which contained assets gifted to the husband before and during the marriage was a marital asset because it had been "used as security for the margin account" which was used "for marital expenses":

When the portfolio account was used as security for the margin account, it lost its separate character, and in effect, became comingled with the margin account. Thus, the portfolio account, via the margin account, became subject to distribution.

Adams, 604 So. 2d at 496. The Adams court required equitable distribution of the portfolio account to the wife. <u>Id</u>.

Here, the Second District Court of Appeal refused to follow <u>Adams</u>. It reversed the trial court's equitable distribution to the husband, despite the undisputed fact that assets inherited by the wife had been used as security for, and to fund, marital expenses in every aspect of the Farriors' family life, including:

- the Coca Cola stock was pledged as collateral for a loan to purchase the family ranch (R-5538; T-2097)
- the Coca Cola stock was pledged as collateral for a letter of credit to purchase an interest in the San Francisco Giants (T-2631-32)
- the Coca Cola stock certificates were kept in a joint safe deposit box with joint access (T-1797, 1788, 1801, 1836)
- the Husband had blank, signed in advance, stock powers allowing him full authority to sell the stock at his discretion (T-1797, 1788, 1801, 1836)
- proceeds from the sale and dividends of the stocks were deposited into a family checking account; an account which was the depository of all the family's income including the Husband's wages, proceeds from sales of property, Coca Cola dividends, and investment account transfers (T-1789, 1802, 2507)
- the parties filed joint federal tax returns which included income from the Coca Cola stock sales and dividends on the stock (T-1802-04, 2315)
- the parties filed joint state intangible tax returns and paid the intangible tax from the joint account (T-1802-04).

Nevertheless, the court below declined to follow Adams, even though

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