IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

OCT 6 1998

J. REX FARRIOR, JR.,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

Case No. 93,329

VS.

2nd DCA No. 96-01493

MARY LEE FARRIOR,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON CERTIFIED CONFLICT REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

DAVID A. MANEY, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 092312 LORENA L. KIELY, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 963380 MANEY, DAMSKER & JONES, P.A. Post Office Box 172009 Tampa, FL 33672-2009 (813) 228-7371 STUART C. MARKMAN, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 322571 KYNES, MARKMAN & FELMAN, P.A. Post Office Box 4496 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 229-1118 CO-COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction. The Second District's decision does not conflict with the Third District's decision in *Adams v. Adams*, 604 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). The Second District pointed out the factual differences between the present case and *Adams*. Although it certified the case, the District Court did so with hesitation and qualification, stating only "[t]o the extent our decision conflicts with <u>Adams</u>, we certify the conflict." (Emphasis supplied). *Adams* is readily distinguishable, as it involves the placement of nonmarital funds in an account with marital funds so that the deposited funds became untraceable and therefore intermingled. *Adams* follows the well established law governing the doctrine of commingling in the context of assets placed in accounts. *Adams* does not stand for the proposition that the mere use of nonmarital assets as collateral for marital obligations, in the absence of true commingling in an account, transforms nonmarital assets into marital.

Here, in contrast to the accounts in *Adams*, the Wife's inherited and gifted nonmarital assets consisted of stock certificates, titled in her name alone. The certificates were never placed in an account, joint or otherwise. As a consequence, the stock certificates, which had always been titled in the Wife's name alone, remained separate, identifiable, and readily traceable. Commingling of the stock with marital funds never occurred. *Adams* is therefore inapplicable and the instant decision does not

conflict with it.

As the Second District correctly held, the concept of equal access did not support the trial court's intermingling conclusion either. The Husband did not have equal access to the Wife's separately titled stock certificates. At all times, the stock certificates remained titled in the Wife's name. The sale of stock represented by a stock certificate could be effected only if the Wife endorsed the certificate or executed a power of attorney. Moreover, the stock certificates were never surrendered for deposit into an account, stock, joint, or otherwise. Indeed, the stock retained a separate identity, a "traceable" asset still owned solely by the Wife.

The Second District was also correct to reject the trial court's conclusion that the use of some nonmarital assets to enhance the marital standard of living established commingling. Consistent with the statutory definitions set forth in Section 61.075, *Fla. Stat.* and *Claughton*, the Second District held only those nonmarital assets actually used to enhance the standard of living become marital.

Neither statutory provision nor case decision stands for the sweeping proposition that the pledge of a nonmarital asset as security for a marital obligation means the nonmarital asset must be reclassified as marital. The Second District correctly reversed the trial court's attempt to extend Florida law to reach such an erroneous and illogical result. In any event, as the Second District pointed out, there was no evidence that the Wife ever pledged all of her inherited and gifted stock. To the contrary, as the trial court found, not even half of the Wife's Coca-Cola shares had ever been pledged. As to the Wife's separately titled nonmarital stock in Genuine Parts, SunTrust Banks, or the interest in Chestnut Street Exchange, there was no evidence that even one share had been pledged.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS CONFLICT JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE SECOND DISTRICT'S OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE THIRD DISTRICT'S OPINION IN *ADAMS V. ADAMS*, 604 SO. 2D 494 (FLA. 3D DCA 1992).⁷

If two cases are factually distinguishable, no jurisdictional conflict exists. *Department of Revenue v. Johnson*, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983); *Kyle v. Kyle*, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962). Recognizing the factual differences between the present case and *Adams*, the Second District only half-heartedly certified this case "[t]o the extent our decision conflicts with <u>Adams</u>, we certify the conflict." *Farrior* at 1157. (Emphasis added). As established below, *Adams* is distinguishable. No jurisdictional conflict exists.

The Second District, applying settled case law, concluded the trial court relied on a legally erroneous definition of commingling. The trial court overlooked that commingling requires the placing of assets in a joint account with the result that the assets became untraceable.⁸ The Second District pointed out Ms. Farrior's stock

⁷In *Heinrich v. Heinrich*, 609 So. 2d 94, 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), *Adams* was confined to its facts with the Court observing that *Adams* "involves an unique set of circumstances...".

⁸ Indeed, the fungibility of securities in a stock or securities account is explicitly recognized by Section 678.107, *Fla. Stat.*: "a person obligated to transfer securities [a (continued...)

certificates have always been titled in her name and her name alone.

In contrast, Adams involves the use of a stock account, not individually titled

stock certificates. The Husband ignores this determinative distinction.⁹ Adams stands

broker] may transfer <u>any</u> certificated security of the specified issue in bearer form or registered in the name of the transferee, or indorsed to him or her or in blank, or he or she may transfer an <u>equivalent</u> uncertificated security to the transferee or a person designated by the transferee." (Emphasis added). A broker is not required to deliver specific stock certificates to a purchaser in the absence of an agreement to the contrary. *Price v. Johnson*, 222 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969).

⁹ The Husband contends the present case is in non-jurisdictional conflict with another Second District decision, *Baird v. Baird*, 696 So. 2d 844 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). Initial Brief at 19-20. *Baird* involves a stock account; that is, as in *Adams, Baird* deals with untraceable shares in stock accounts, not easily identifiable stock certificates. In reversing an award to the husband of a nonmarital interest in stock, the Second District stated, at page 847:

We do, however, agree that the commingling of the stock <u>accounts</u> defeated the separate character of the shares. Mr. Baird <u>commingled his</u> <u>stock in the jointly-titled account</u>, periodically sold shares from the solelytitled account for living expenses and hypothecated over 1,300 shares as security for a \$20,000 marital debt. They lived in part off dividends and proceeds from the sale of that stock during a period from 1985 to 1990 during which neither worked full-time. During the litigation, the court ordered that stock be sold to pay an IRS obligation, satisfy a judgment lien and reinstate the mortgage on the marital home. <u>The accountant conceded that he could not trace specific shares through the various sales and transfers. The stock lost its separate character by such commingling and hypothecation. [citations omitted].</u>

(Emphasis added). 696 So. 2d at 847. The Second District was no doubt aware that *Baird* was distinguishable when it stated that is could find no cases other than *Adams*, (continued...)

^{(...}continued)

for a proposition not in issue here -- that commingling occurs when marital and nonmarital funds are placed in an account resulting in the nonmarital funds becoming untraceable. *Adams* does not stand for the proposition that the use of nonmarital assets as collateral for marital debts, without commingling in an account, converts nonmarital collateral to marital property. Just as importantly, *Fla. Stat.* Section 61.075 does not include within its definition of the term "marital asset" nonmarital assets used as collateral for marital obligations.

Although the Husband relies primarily on *Adams*, his brief neglects to mention operative facts in *Adams*, which distinguish *Adams* from the present case.

In *Adams*, the husband owned approximately \$185,000 in stocks and bonds as a result of gifts. These securities were held in two different accounts -- a margin account, which was jointly titled in the names of the husband and wife, and a portfolio account which was in the name of the Husband. The margin account was used for marital expenses and as a credit for acquiring marital assets. Both parties borrowed from and repaid the margin account on several occasions. The portfolio account was used as security for the joint margin account. The District Court held the gifted assets

⁹(...continued)

supposedly supporting the intermingling theory the Husband relies on here. Indeed, the Husband filed in the Second District a Notice of Supplemental Authority citing *Baird*.

in both the portfolio and margin accounts were marital assets because they were intermingled with marital assets. The Court's reasoning was that the portfolio account lost its separate character when it was used as security for the joint margin account, thereby, in effect, becoming commingled with the margin account:

Thus, the portfolio account, via the margin account, became subject to distribution.

Id. at 496.

Ms. Farrior never used her non-marital stock as the husband used his portfolio account in *Adams*. In *Adams* there was a joint account, the margin account, which was used by both the husband and the wife for the payment of marital expenses; both marital and non-marital funds were deposited into the joint margin account. Ms. Farrior never "deposited" or transferred her non-marital stock certificates to any account, joint or otherwise. Her nonmarital stock, represented by certificates in her name alone, remained readily identifiable. Ms. Farrior never maintained a margin account with the Husband or any other person. Ms. Farrior never deposited her non-marital stock in a stock account.

In short, contrary to the trial court's misapplication of *Adams* and the Husband's misplaced reliance on it, *Adams* does not stand for the proposition that the mere use of a non-marital asset as collateral for a marital obligation transforms the asset into a

marital asset. The Second District noted factual differences between *Adams* and this case. While the Second District disagreed with *Adams*, this disagreement, as the Second District's Opinion makes clear, was not the basis for its reversal of the trial court. Instead, the Second District determined *Adams* was not applicable.

2

Contrary to the Husband's assertion, the Second District did not "conced[e] that, at the least, nearly half of the wife's stock was within the *Adams* equitable distribution doctrine." Initial Brief at 18-19. The Second District did not conclude *Adams* stands for the proposition that nonmarital stock certificates pledged for marital obligations become marital. The passage relied on by the Husband has to do with the Second District's discussion of the trial court's finding that 220,372 shares of the 514,648 shares existing as of the valuation date of Coca-Cola Company stock were either pledged as collateral for marital debts or were obtained through stock splits of shares of Coca-Cola stock actually pledged is 29,444, and there is no evidence the SunTrust Bank stock or the Genuine Parts stock was ever used as collateral for marital obligations.

The Husband struggles to liken his case to *Adams* by reciting selected facts at pages 17 and 18 of his Initial Brief. But the Husband cannot establish the existence of the one critical fact he must establish if he is to show a conflict with *Adams* -- that the

Farriors had a joint account into which the Coca-Cola stock certificates were deposited. Absent this fact, there is no conflict jurisdiction. In all of the relevant Florida cases, including *Adams*, commingling requires a joint account from which marital expenses are paid and into which deposits of marital funds are made. *Adams*, like *Fla. Stat.* Section 61.075, indicates pledging alone will not transform a nonmarital asset into a marital asset -- there must also be commingling of the nonmarital funds with the marital funds in a joint account.

The Husband urges the "blue green document" supports his assertion that all of the Coca Cola stock was pledged as collateral for the purchase of the ranch. However, the Husband conceded in the Second District that this document was admitted for the limited purpose of establishing, or more appropriately, attempting to establish, an oral agreement, a theory so foreign to Florida law that neither lower court ever endorsed it. It was not admitted to prove that all of the Coca Cola stock actually had been pledged for the ranch loan, and the trial court ultimately found that most of the Coca-Cola stock had never been pledged. And even this limited pledging cannot establish the requisite existence of a joint account. Thus, there was no commingling under the case law, including *Adams*.

The Husband makes much of his assertion that the Coca Cola stock certificates were kept in a joint safe deposit box with joint access or in his office lock box. But the Husband's "physical placement" argument is not the law. Significantly, Mr. Farrior scrupulously refrains from citing *Winterton v. Kaufmann*, 504 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), which he cited in his Second District. *Winterton* held the husband's assets, which were bearer bonds in a joint safe deposit box became marital because:

Bearer bonds, by their nature, are not titled in the name of one or more persons. The joint funds that Roma and Veit used to purchase the bearer bonds never lost their joint nature at any time before or after their purchases. Roma and Veit were together at all times when they purchased the bonds. The funds moved from joint accounts through a brokerage account and into the joint safe deposit box. At no time were the joint funds placed beyond Roma's control in such a manner that would be inconsistent with her continued joint possession and ownership.

(Emphasis added). *Winterton* illustrates the invalidity of the Husband's physical placement theory, at least in this case. The stock certificates placed by the Husband into the joint safe deposit box and his office lock box were and are in the name of the Wife only. The Wife's intent to retain the stock as her separate property and to maintain dominion and control of the stock is established.

The Husband also argues this case is governed by *Adams* because the Husband had in his possession blank, signed in advance, stock powers allowing him to sell stock. On this issue the trial court found the Wife regularly signed blank stock powers to allow the Husband to exercise control over the stock. The record shows the Husband refrained from using the blank stock powers to sell all of the Coca Cola stock. The Husband's actions were consistent with his knowledge that his power to sell stock was limited and could be exercised only from time to time as specific needs to do so arose.

In any event, the mere fact that the Husband held and exercised stock powers did not establish what the Husband must establish to prevail, even under *Adams* -- the existence of a joint account. No commingling occurred. There is not conflict with *Adams*.

Finally, the Husband contends that "proceeds from the sale and dividends of the stock [but not the Coca Cola stock certificates] were deposited into a family checking account; an account which was the depository of all the family's income including the Husband's wages, proceeds from the sales of property, Coca Cola dividends, and investment account transfers . . . [and] the parties filed joint federal tax returns which included income from the Coca Cola stock sales and dividends on the stock". Initial Brief at 18. Whether the parties really had a "joint" account was disputed at trial and never resolved by the trial court.¹⁰ Even if the Husband could establish commingling of income or the proceeds of Coca Cola stock sales in a joint account, the remaining

¹⁰According to the Husband, all proceeds from the sale of Coca Cola stock were deposited by the Husband into the 8115 account, titled "J.Rex Farrior, Attorney at Law," over which the Wife had no authority, except one which was deposited into the 1243 account titled solely in the Husband's name. Under such circumstances, the Husband did not establish commingling even of income from or the proceeds of sale of the Wife's Coca Cola stock.

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